IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

GREGORY ANTHONY WILLIAMS, Appellant,))	NO.	Electronically Filed Figh 22 2017 08:35 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court
vs. THE STATE OF NEVADA,)))		
Respondent.	.)))		
APPETT ANT'S OP	FNINC	RDIFI	σ.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

(Appeal from Judgment of Conviction)

PHILIP J. KOHN CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEF. 309 South Third Street, #226 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2610 (702) 455-4685

STEVEN B. WOLFSON CLARK COUNTY DIST. ATTY. 200 Lewis Avenue, 3rd Floor Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 (702) 455-4711

Attorney for Appellant

ADAM LAXALT Attorney General 100 North Carson Street Carson City, Nevada 89701-4717 (775) 684-1265

Counsel for Respondent

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

- A. Statute which grants jurisdiction to review the judgment: NRS 177.015.
- B. Judgment of Conviction filed June 23, 2016; Notice of Appeal filed July 15, 2016.
- C. This appeal is from a final judgment entered on June 23,2016.

ROUTING STATEMENT

Pursuant to NRAP 17, is this matter presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals? This case is not presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals under NRAP 17(b)(1) because Williams was convicted of multiple Category A felonies.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. The Court erred by denying the defense motion to sever the counts involving A.H. from the counts involving T.H.
- II. The Court erred in denying a hearing and the admission of evidence under *Summit v. State*.
- III. The trial court violated the Equal Protection clauses of the United States and Nevada Constitutions by denying the defense challenge to discriminatory practices prohibited by Batson v. Kentucky.
- IV. The Court committed reversible error by denying defense cause challenges.
- V. The Court violated the Fifth, Sixth, and Fourteenth Amendments and the Nevada Constitution by rejecting proposed defense instructions.
- VI. The State failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that appellant committed these crimes, and convictions based on insufficient evidence violate federal and state due process guarantees.
- VII. The Court abused its discretion in denying Williams' motion to dismiss counsel.
- VIII. The sentence imposed amounts to cruel and unusual punishment.
- IX. Cumulative error warrants reversal of this conviction.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State filed a complaint on September 10, 2013, alleging three counts of lewdness with a child under 14 and five counts of sexual assault on a minor under 14. (I 1). On September 19, 2013, the State filed an amended complaint alleging twenty-eight counts of lewdness and twenty-five counts of sexual assault on a minor under 14. (I 5-20). After waiving his preliminary hearing, Williams was bound over to District Court pursuant to negotiations. (I 27). On December 10, 2013, the State filed an information alleging one count of attempt sexual assault on a minor and one count of attempt lewdness with a child under 14. (I 45). Williams subsequently changed his mind regarding the negotiations and the case did not resolve. (II 316). On December 27, 2013, the State filed an amended information alleging twenty-eight counts of lewdness with a child and twenty-five counts of sexual assault on a minor under 14. (I 47). On January 2, 2014, Williams was arraigned and pled not guilty on all counts. (II 357). On March 29, 2016, the State filed a second amended information alleging nine counts of lewdness and six counts of sexual assault. (II 266). On April 4, 2016, jurors convicted on counts 1, 2, 3, 5, 7 and 9, lewdness with a child under 14, and on counts 4, 6, and 8, sexual assault on a minor under 14. Jurors acquitted on the remaining counts, and counts 5, 7, and 9 were subsequently dismissed as

alternative counts. (II 305; II 312; VI 1260). On May 23, 2016, the Court imposed the following sentence: Counts 1, 2 and 3: 120 months to life, concurrent; count 4: 420 months to life, consecutive; count 6: 420 months to life, consecutive, for an aggregate sentence of 115 years to life, with 1010 days credit for time served, plus restitution and lifetime registration as a sex offender. (VI 1261-62). The State filed the Judgment of Conviction on June 23, 2016. Williams filed a timely notice of appeal on July 15, 2016. (II 311).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Gregory Williams began dating Aneesah Hasan in the spring of 2009. Hasan has five children: A.H., T.H., James, Demarius, and Kayla. They lived in an apartment in Las Vegas. (III 747-48). James shared a room with his brother Demarius, and the three girls shared a separate bedroom. (IV 804). Later that year, Williams moved in with Hasan and her children. (III 747). The family later moved to another apartment in April of 2011. (III 748). Williams worked intermittently as a wedding photographer. (III 751). Sometime in the spring of 2013, Hasan testified that her son James spoke to her about Williams and expressed concerns. (IV 752). Hasan testified that she consulted her other children and was told that one night Williams had taken T.H. from her bed and moved her to another room. (IV 753). Hasan

admitted that James did not see anything and had no specific information when he first approached her about Williams in early 2013. (IV 762). Hasan spoke with Williams and decided that there was no basis for any further action. (IV 753). Six months later, in September, the children approached Hasan while she was cooking breakfast and told her they needed to speak with her about Williams. (IV 754-55). After the conversation, in which T.H. and A.H. alleged acts of lewdness and sexual assaults by Williams, Hasan called 911. (IV 755).

At trial, T.H. testified that Williams called her over to the couch when she was sitting at a table in the living room. She testified that he told her to pull down her underwear and her pants. (IV 846). She testified that Williams placed his penis in her vagina and in her rectum. (IV 847). T.H. could not remember many of the details about this event, including the individuals' positions, the time of day, whether anything was said, and how the incident ended. (IV 847-49). T.H. testified that about six months earlier, Williams took her out of the bunk bed she shared with Kayla. (IV 860, 864-65). She could not remember what happened that night, but testified that she was taken into the living room. (IV 864-65). T.H. testified that a previous time, she saw naked pictures on the living room television. (IV 866). She testified that Williams touched her breasts and penetrated her vagina and rectum. (IV

868). T.H. testified that on another day, the children had gotten in trouble for misbehavior and she was standing in the corner in the guest room. (IV 860-61). She testified that Williams came into the room and told her to approach him, and that he penetrated her vagina and rectum with his penis. (IV 863).

A.H. testified that she saw Williams take T.H. out of their bedroom one night. (IV 913). A.H. testified that Williams would discipline the children by sending them to their rooms or telling them to stand in the corner. She testified that one night Williams told her to leave the corner of the living room and lie on the couch, and that he lifted up her shirt and sucked her breast. (IV 911-914). She testified that her siblings were at home when this happened. (IV 916). A.H. testified that the next day, Williams told her to come over and tried to pull up her shirt, but that she said she was scared and started crying and that he stopped. (IV 917-18). A.H. admitted that she didn't tell Hasan about these events when the siblings talked to her about T.H. (IV 919).

James testified that Williams would sit on a chair wearing only his underwear, and that he would kiss T.H. on the cheek. (IV 792). James testified that Williams would tell him to stay in the bedroom until T.H. was no longer in the living room with him. (IV 794). James testified that the first time he spoke to his mother about Williams, he told Hasan that T.H. was

Williams' favorite, and that she would get treats and snacks but that Williams would not give treats and snacks to the other kids. (IV 794). James testified that he didn't feel good about the relationship between Williams and T.H. because she got treats he didn't get. (IV 798). Although James testified that he would sometimes peek under the door to see Williams and T.H., he admitted that he could only see their feet. (IV 801).

Kayla testified that Williams was often alone in the living room with T.H., and that she would sit on his lap, facing him. (IV 814). Kayla admitted that she told the investigating Metro officer, Detective Flink, that she didn't see anything happen to T.H. or A.H. (IV 819).

Dr. Vergara testified regarding the examination she conducted on T.H. She testified that T.H.'s hymen was intact and that there was adequate hymenal tissue. (V 1144). She admitted that she saw no lesions in the genitalia and rectal areas, and no local redness or hymenal or rectal tears. (V 1153-55).

The State's forensic scientist, Cassandra Robertson, testified that she obtained sperm and a protein found in semen when she tested the vaginal swabs obtained from T.H. (IV 975). The quantities retrieved were too low to conduct a full profile, although T.H.'s epithelial cells were identified. (IV 977). Robertson also testified that she obtained DNA from rectal swabs

taken from T.H. and found sperm and a protein found in semen. (IV 982). The DNA contained epithelial cells from T.H. (IV 987). Robertson was able to test the sperm fraction, and testified that the results were consistent with Williams' buccal swab DNA sample to a degree of one in 700 billion. (IV 988). Robertson also found sperm and semen protein in the underwear taken from T.H. Robertson identified DNA from T.H.'s epithelial cells and DNA from a male in the sample; Williams could not be excluded as the source of the male DNA. (IV 993-96). Robertson testified that the DNA profile obtained from one of the underwear samples was consistent with Williams. (V 1034). Although she was able to determine that the second sample's epithelial fraction contained DNA contributed from a male, there was not enough material present to draw conclusions about the contributor. (V 1038). The sperm fraction contained in the second sample had DNA consistent with Williams. (V 1039). A third area tested also contained DNA consistent with T.H., and DNA consistent with Williams in a sperm fraction. A third unknown contributor's DNA was also present in this sample. (V 1042).

After a five-day trial, jurors convicted Williams on counts I through 9 and acquitted on counts 10 through 15. The State dismissed 4, 6, and 8 as

alternate counts, and Williams was sentenced to 35 years to an aggregate sentence of 115 years to life in prison.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This case hinged on the jury's willingness to believe a story about years of unreported physical abuse by complaining witnesses whose allegations cross-corroborated each other when the trial Court denied severance of the counts. Because these witnesses' credibility was the cornerstone of the State's case, this Court cannot deem the trial Court's refusal to sever these cases harmless error. These claims occurred months to years apart and did not comprise a common scheme or plan; thus, the prejudice to Williams from joinder cannot be overstated. Instead of facing two separate accusers whose credibility may have been individually questionable, Williams was forced to defend against two accusers who essentially "cross-corroborated" each other. In addition, the Court excluded evidence of alternate sources of sexual knowledge on the part of the accusers, and made numerous improper evidentiary and legal rulings during the trial.

The Court also erred in denying a challenge under *Batson v. Kentucky* and in making other erroneous rulings during jury selection. Finally, the State failed to prove these acts beyond a reasonable doubt, and Williams' sentence violates the Eighth Amendment and the Nevada Constitution.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

I. The Court erred by denying the defense motion to sever the counts involving A.H. from the counts involving T.H.

Prior to trial, the defense moved to sever the counts involving T.H. from the counts involving A.H. on the grounds that the charges would not have been cross-admissible in separate trials. (I 153). The Court denied the motion. (II 449). This decision resulted in significant prejudice and warrants reversal of these convictions. NRS 173.115 governs joinder of offenses:

Two or more offenses may be charged in the same indictment or information in a separate count for each offense if the offenses charged, whether felonies or misdemeanors or both, are: (1) Based on the same act or transaction; or (2) Based on two or more acts or transactions connected together or constituting parts of a common scheme or plan.

However, NRS 174.165 authorizes severance of counts if "... it appears that a defendant or the State of Nevada is prejudiced by a joinder of offenses... in an indictment or information..." Thus, joinder of offenses if proper only if the offenses: 1) are based on the same act or transaction, or comprise parts of a common scheme or plan; and 2) are not unduly prejudicial to the defendant or the State.

11.1 111 111

The offenses joined here were not part of the same transaction, nor were they part of a common scheme/plan.

The charges relating to A.H. (Counts 1-2) were not part of the same act or transaction as those relating to T.H. (Counts 3-15). The allegations involving A.H. occurred on an unknown date and may have been several months to a year or more prior to some of the acts involving T.H. (II 266; IV 914). Significantly, the acts alleged by A.H. do not resemble the acts alleged by T.H. and involve different parts of the body and entirely different levels of interaction. (II 266-67). Accordingly, the joined offenses were not based on the same transaction or occurrence. A common plan or scheme "requires that each crime should be an integral part of an overarching plan explicitly conceived and executed by the defendant." Richmond v. State, 118 Nev. 924 (2002) (internal citation omitted). "The test is not whether the other offense has certain elements in common with the crime charged, but whether it tends to establish a preconceived plan which resulted in the commission of that crime." Id. (citing Mitchell v. State, 105 Nev. 735, 738 (1989)). The joinder statute requires that a defendant, upon undertaking each act alleged, have contemplated the further acts alleged, and that each act taken must have been in furtherance of an over-arching criminal enterprise.

The separate and distinct charges do not amount to a pre-conceived plan to engage in some over-arching criminal enterprise. First, beyond

indulging purported pedophiliac predilections, the evidence failed to disclose any preconceived plan to engage in a criminal enterprise. Second, even if this Court concludes that repeated allegations of molestation constitute a criminal enterprise, the evidence failed to disclose that Williams contemplated the alleged misconduct involving E.H. at the time he engaged in the alleged misconduct involving A.H. In fact, A.H. could testify only that the incident occurred prior to the first attempted disclosure to Hasan, but could not name the year or month when the conduct occurred. (IV 913).

In *Richmond, supra*, the Nevada Supreme Court confronted facts similar to the instant case. Richmond was convicted of molesting a neighbor's child. *Id.* The trial court admitted evidence that, on another occasion, Richmond had molested another neighbor child. *Id.* The Nevada Supreme Court rejected the trial court's admission of the bad act evidence, finding that the two offenses did not amount to parts of a common plan: "Richmond appeared simply to drift from one location to another, taking advantage of whichever potential victims came his way. His crimes were not part of a single overarching plan, but independent crimes, which Richmond did not plan until each victim was within reach." *Id. See also Mitchell v. State*, 105 Nev. 735 (1989) (holding that sexual assaults perpetrated at same location and in same manner insufficient to establish common scheme or

plan). Accordingly, the *Richmond* Court held: "...[A] sexual assault at the same location and perpetrated in the same manner a month before the sexual assault at issue was inadmissible because it did not establish a common plan (citing *Mitchell*, supra)."

Like *Richmond*, the offenses alleged here did not amount to parts of an over-arching criminal scheme or plan. Prosecutors presented no evidence connecting the charges involving A.H. to the charges involving T.H. While both girls alleged sexual improprieties at the hands of the same perpetrator, the evidence failed to disclose that the encounters were anything more than a series of isolated events, separated by an unknown period of time, possibly years apart. Thus, the offenses joined in the case at bar did not comprise parts of a common scheme or plan.

The joined offenses were not cross-admissible.

Moreover, even if there was an over-arching 'plan' or 'scheme' of which the alleged misconduct was a part, the charges failed to bear sufficient relation to one another to warrant joinder. In *Tabish v. State*, 119 Nev. 293 (2003), the Nevada Supreme Court held that the joinder of related, but not cross-admissible, offenses amounted to error. *Id.* Prosecutors charged Tabish with murdering casino heir Ted Binion for financial gain, theorizing

¹ Admittedly, the *Tabish* Court found the error to be harmless on the facts of that case. *Id.*

that Tabish intended to steal valuable coins from a vault maintained by Binion. *Id.* Prosecutors also charged Tabish with assaulting another individual, Leo Casey, in the months preceding Binion's death. *Id.* Prosecutors argued that Tabish threatened and brutalized Casey in an attempt to obtain access to a valuable sand pit in which both Tabish and Casey invested. *Id.* Prosecutors alleged the Casey charges were properly joined with the Binion murder charge as they demonstrated Tabish's common scheme or plan to harm and steal from his friends and associates. *Id.* The Court disagreed, holding that money and greed could be motivating factors in many criminal cases but that, absent more, the Casey and Binion offenses were not so interrelated as to warrant joinder. *Id.*

As in *Tabish*, the joined offenses here involved alleged misconduct that occurred on different occasions involving different alleged victims. While the allegations of misconduct bore some broad similarities and the same general motivations, those similarities were not sufficiently unique to warrant a finding of cross-admissibility. Cross-admissibility requires more than general similarities between joined offenses. *Mayes v. State*, 95 Nev. 140, 142 (1979). In *Mayes*, prosecutors charged the defendant with stealing a client's money and jewelry after performing an act of prostitution. *Id.* The trial court allowed the testimony of two prior alleged victims, each of whom

testified that the defendant stole money and jewelry after performing a sexual act. *Id.* The *Mayes* Court found that, while each purported offense involved allegations that the defendant stole money and jewelry after performing a sexual act, the allegations lacked the 'special characteristics' distinguishing the offenses from other types of 'trick roll' crimes. *Id.* At 143. Accordingly, the *Mayes* Court rejected the trial court's admission of the prior acts of misconduct.

The Eighth Circuit Court of Appeals similarly rejected the admission of prior allegations of misconduct in a case virtually identical to that at issue here. In *U.S. v. LeCompte*, 99 F.3d 274 (8th Cir. 1996), the defendant was convicted of abusive sexual contact with his eleven-year old niece. The trial court allowed prosecutors to introduce evidence that, on a prior occasion, the defendant molested another of his nieces. Both girls were the same age. Both girls testified that the defendant forced them to touch his penis; that he touched them in the groin area; and that he often committed these acts during games such as hide-and-seek.

The LeCompte Court found that the similarities between the crimes were insufficiently unique to establish a particular modus operandi. The Court noted that, to be used for identity purposes, such evidence must show "a greater degree of similarity between the charged crime and the uncharged

crime" than when the evidence is used to show state of mind. *Id.* At 278. "[T]o the extent that the prior abuse of T.T. [the bad act witness] and the charged offense are in fact similar, they reflect misconduct common to all too many child sex offenders. Therefore, T.T.'s testimony was not relevant to prove plan, preparation, or modus operandi." *Id.*

The same can be said of the joined offenses here. There was nothing uniquely idiosyncratic about the misconduct alleged in the case at bar. The sexual acts described by A.H. and T.H. comprise a common type of allegation in sexual molestation cases; further, the acts alleged by A.H. are completely different than the acts alleged by T.H. Thus, under the authority outlined above, the dual sets of charges alleged here were not sufficiently cross-admissible to warrant joinder.

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