#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

GREGORY ANTHONY WILLIAMS,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed May 17 2017 10:16 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 70868

## RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

**Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County** 

AUDREY M. CONWAY Deputy Public Defender Nevada Bar #005611 309 South Third Street, #226 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 (702) 455-4685

STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

538-39 (1993)). In order to *require* severance, the defendant has the heavy burden of proving that a "joint trial would be 'manifestly prejudicial,' " which, in turn, requires a showing that the simultaneous trial of the offenses would "render the trial fundamentally unfair, and hence, result in a violation of due process." <u>Honeycutt</u>, 118 Nev. at 667-68 (quoting <u>United States v. Bronco</u>, 597 F.2d 1300, 1302 (9th Cir. 1979)).

Williams has failed to demonstrate unfair prejudice by joinder of the charges relating to T.H. and A.H.—let alone demonstrate that joinder was "manifestly prejudicial." None of the charges were so weak as to suggest a due process violation. This was not a case in "which charges in a weak case have been combined with charges in a strong case to help bolster the former." See Rimer, 351 P.3d at 709 (citing Weber, 121 Nev. at 575).

Williams, however, argues that he "may have taken the stand in a separate trial involving only one complaining witness, but in a joined trial could not elect to limit his testimony to one set of charges and retain his right against self-incrimination as to the other charges[.]" <u>Id.</u> Interestingly, Williams does not state that he would have taken the stand had the charges involving either T.H. or A.H. gone to a separate trial. Nor does it seem likely that he would have given the remarkable similarity between the incidents. Williams erroneously argues that the "charges involved two separate and distinct complaining witnesses making

fundamentally different types of allegations." AOB at 18. For the reasons explained above, these incidents did not involve "fundamental" differences. While Williams may not have penetrated either A.H.'s vagina or anus with his penis, the fact remains that he abused his position as a caregiver and father-figure to manipulate *both* A.H. and T.H. into gratifying his lust by engaging in sexual contact.

Williams further argues that had the charges relating to A.H. been severed from those relating to T.H., he may not have been convicted "on the separate offenses, or may not have [been] convicted of at least some of the counts." AOB at 18. However, as noted above, to demonstrate such unfair prejudice, Williams must do more than simply show that "severance might have made acquittal more likely." Weber, 121 Nev. at 575 (internal quotation marks omitted). This he has failed to do. According to Williams, "[t]he dual allegations of misconduct unfairly corroborated each other." AOB at 18. He then goes on to note that T.H.'s and A.H's testimony "suffered from lack of detail" and that each of them were inconsistent regarding what they alleged happened. Id. The Court should reject Williams' assertion regarding cross-corroboration and the line of reasoning Williams has employed to reach the conclusion that he did. It defies logic for Williams to argue that the victims, who according to him were incredible, lent credibility to each other's accounts. In essence, Williams is arguing that the testimonies of two incredible witnesses made for an overall credible account. Thus, Williams' argument regarding crosscorroboration is undermined by the very logic he has employed to support that argument.

Lastly, Williams argues that the "[t]he Court should have proffered an instruction limiting the jury's consideration of the evidence pertaining to the joined offenses." AOB at 19. Williams, however, did not raise this issue at the trial. That being the case, this issued is waived and reviewable only for plain error. Martinorellan v. State, 343 P.3d 590, 593 (2015); Maestas v. State, 275 P.3d 74, 89 (2012); Green v. State, 119 Nev. 542, 545 (2003); Patterson v. State, 111 Nev. 1525, 1530 (1995); Ford v. Warden, 111 Nev. 872, 884 (1995).

This Court has held that limiting instructions help eliminate the prejudice that may result from joinder. See Tabish v. State, 119 Nev. 293, 304 (2003) ("When some potential prejudice is present, it can usually be adequately addressed by a limiting instruction to the jury."). The District Court's failure to issue such a limiting instruction, however, was harmless error that did not affect Williams' substantial rights. Instructional errors are harmless when it is "clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error," and the error is not the type that would undermine certainty in the verdict. Wegner v. State, 116 Nev. 1149, 1155–56 (2000) overruled on other grounds, Rosas v. State, 122 Nev. 1258 (2006).

The evidence against Williams was significant. All three of the sexual assault counts and one of the three lewdness counts related to T.H. The evidence proving Williams' guilt as to these charges included both testimony and DNA. T.H. testified to three instances in which Williams penetrated her with his penis vaginally and rectally. 4AA842-50,860-63,865-67. A.H., J.M., K.M., and D.H testified how T.H. was Williams' "favorite." 4AA789-90,809,907,944. And, according to A.H., J.M., and K.M., Williams would spend a lot of time with T.H. and would tell the other children to go their rooms while he was alone with T.H. 4AA790,793-94,809-10,814-15,909. J.M, K.M., and D.H. further recalled how T.H. would often sit on Williams' lap. 4AA796,813,950,953. And, according to K.M. and D.H, T.H. would be facing Williams while sitting on his lap. 4AA813,953. The evidence also included Williams' DNA, found on T.H.'s rectal swabs and in T.H.'s underwear. 4AA981-84,989-90,994; 5AA1039,1042,1096,1104.

The remaining two lewdness counts related to A.H. And, while the only evidence here included A.H.'s testimony, <u>see</u> 4AA913-14, that is to be expected given Williams *modus operandi* (i.e., ensuring all of the other children are elsewhere before taking advantage of the victim in the living room), the fact that the incident occurred before March of 2013 (and, thus, any DNA evidence would have long disappeared), and A.H.'s reluctance in reporting the incident until what happened to T.H. came to light. In any event, there is no need to corroborate A.H.'s testimony so

long as A.H.' testimony established all of the elements of the offense—which it certainly did. See Gaxiola v. State, 121 Nev. 633, 648 (2005) ("This court has repeatedly stated that the uncorroborated testimony of a victim, without more, is sufficient to uphold a rape conviction.").

Williams has failed to demonstrate that joinder was so prejudicial as to outweigh "the dominant concern [of] judicial economy and compel[] the exercise of the court's discretion to sever." <u>Tabish</u>, 119 Nev. at 304. Accordingly, the District Court did not abuse its discretion in denying Williams' Motion to Sever.

II. The District Court Properly Denied Williams' Motion To Admit Evidence Of Alleged Victim's Ability To Contrive A Sexual Assault Allegation And Theory Of Defense Evidence.

NRS 50.090 provides that--

In any prosecution for sexual assault or statutory sexual seduction or for attempt to commit or conspiracy to commit either crime, the accused may not present evidence of any previous sexual conduct of the victim of the crime to challenge the victim's credibility as a witness unless the prosecutor has presented evidence or the victim has testified concerning such conduct, or the absence of such conduct, in which case the scope of the accused's cross-examination of the victim or rebuttal must be limited to the evidence presented by the prosecutor or victim.

This Court has delineated two exceptions to this general rule. In Miller v. State, 105 Nev. 497, 501 (1989), this Court held that in a sexual assault case, NRS 50.090 does not bar the cross-examination of a complaining witness about prior *false* accusations. Further, in Summit, 101 Nev. at 163-64, this Court held that prior sexual experiences of a child victim may be admissible to demonstrate that the child's prior sexual

experiences could explain the source of the child's knowledge of the charged sexual activity and, in turn, demonstrate the child's ability to contrive a charge against the defendant. Prior to admitting such evidence, however, "the trial court must undertake to balance the probative value of the evidence against its prejudicial effect." See NRS 48.035(1). "[T]he inquiry should particularly focus upon 'potential prejudice to the truthfinding process itself,' i.e., 'whether the introduction of the victim's past sexual conduct may confuse the issues, mislead the jury, or cause the jury to decide the case on an improper or emotional basis.' "Summit 101 Nev. at 163 (citation omitted).

"The trial court has sound discretion to admit or exclude evidence of a victim's prior false allegations or prior sexual experiences." <u>Abbott v. State</u>, 122 Nev. at 732 (2006). "In the exercise of its sound discretion, the trial court should be mindful of the important policy considerations underlying the rape-shield statute, and accordingly should limit the admission of evidence of specific instances of the complainant's sexual conduct . . . without unduly infringing upon the defendant's constitutional right to confrontation." <u>Summit</u>, 101 Nev. at 164.

The District Court did not abuse its discretion in denying Williams' motion. Williams relies heavily on this Court's decision in <u>Summit</u>. <u>See</u> AOB at 22-28. This reliance, however, is misplaced. In <u>Summit</u>, 101 Nev. at 160, the defendant was tried and convicted of two counts of sexual assault. The acts of sexual assault consisted

of cunnilingus and fellatio with a six-year-old child. <u>Id.</u> At trial, the defense sought to introduce evidence of a prior sexual assault that had taken place, in the same trailer park, two years before the crime in issue. <u>Id.</u> The prior assault included the acts of intercourse, fellatio, and the fondling of the victim's genitalia. <u>Id.</u> The defense had offered the evidence in an attempt to show that the young victim had had prior independent knowledge of similar acts which constituted the basis for his charge. <u>Id.</u> The district court, however, precluded such evidence under NRS 50.090. <u>Id.</u> This Court reversed, noting that the victim's prior sexual conduct "could explain the source of her knowledge of the sexual activity she described in her testimony." <u>Id.</u> at 163.

Unlike <u>Summit</u>, there are no allegations that either of the victims has previously been sexually abused by anybody else. In fact, there is not so much as an allegation that either of the victims has had any type of prior sexual experience or that either of them has engaged in any prior sexual conduct. This Court's holding in <u>Summit</u> is limited to just such evidence:

However, if statutory rape victims *have had other sexual experiences*, it would be possible for them to provide detailed, realistic testimony concerning an incident that may never have happened. To preclude a defendant from presenting such evidence to the jury, if it is otherwise admissible, would be obvious error. Accordingly, a defendant must be afforded the opportunity to show, *by specific incidents of sexual conduct*, that the prosecutrix has the experience and ability to contrive a statutory rape charge against him.

<u>Id.</u> at 164. Williams even quotes this portion of <u>Summit</u>, AOB at 24, but obviously fails to grasp its import. If, however, Williams is seeking to expand the scope of <u>Summit</u>'s holding to include *any* evidence (apart from the victim's own sexual experiences) that may have a tendency to show how a young victim could have acquired knowledge of sexual acts, the Court should reject such an attempt. The inquiry in such matters is that which pertains to any other challenged evidence—i.e., whether the evidence is relevant under NRS 48.015, and whether its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, of confusion of the issues or of misleading the jury under NRS 48.035(1).

Williams argues that evidence of Hasan's "career as an adult film actress comprised a crucial component of Williams' theory of defense" insofar as "the creation of pornography in the home comprised an alternate source of sexual knowledge on the part of T.H. and A.H." AOB at 26. As noted above, the first line of inquiry is whether evidence of Hasan's employment was relevant pursuant to NRS 48.015. Evidence is considered relevant where it has some tendency in reason to establish a proposition material to the case. <u>Pasgove v. State</u>, 98 Nev. 434, 436 (1982). Hasan's employment is only relevant insofar as either A.H. or T.H. observed Hasan actually engage in sexual acts because it is only through such observation that the children would have acquired the knowledge that Williams imputes to them. The

most Williams has alleged here is that "A.H. admitted to familiarity with her mother's employment." AOB at 26.

Recognizing this, Williams has renewed his argument that both of the children should have been further examined under oath. See id. at 24, 26. To be sure, the district court had set a hearing for March 5, 2015, for just this purpose. See 6AA1263-1306. At that hearing, the State indicated that it had intended to call T.H. and A.H. as witnesses in order to ascertain the extent of their knowledge regarding their mother's employment. See id. at 1265-67. It came to light, however, that the day before the hearing, defense counsel had gone to the children's school with his investigator, had the children pulled out of class without their mother's permission, and then proceeded to interview them. See id. at 1267-69. Finding that defense counsel potentially tainted the witnesses' testimonies, the Court denied Williams' motion. Id. at 1304-05. Given defense counsel's rash course of action and the risk that the children's testimony may have been compromised, the District Court's refusal to entertain any further discussion on the matter was reasonable.

However, the district court did afford Williams the opportunity to refile his motion, see id. at 1305, which he did more than one year later on March 18, 2016. 1AA163-67. However, by that time, his motion was untimely under EDCR 2.24.<sup>4</sup>

<sup>4</sup> The District Court entered its Order denying Williams' Motion to Admit Evidence

of Alleged Victims' Ability to Contrive a Sexual Assault Allegation and Theory of

Defense Evidence on March 17, 2015. 1AA176; see also 1AA107. Thus, Williams'

Additionally, because the motion was filed just 12 days before the trial setting, it was also untimely under EDCR Rule 3.20(a).<sup>5</sup> Lastly, as noted by the State in its Opposition below, defense counsel had not provided the State with the audio recordings of the interviews conducted at the children's school until March 18, 2016—again, more than one year after the hearing held on the first motion. See 1AA176. Nonetheless, in denying the renewed motion, the district court still kept open the possibility that evidence of Hasan's employment might be introduced depending on the testimony that was elicited at trial:

The Court: I gave him the right to bring it up. But I still don't

think it's relevant unless it comes up. Before you

ask any questions, approach the bench.

Ms. Kollins: And I'm sorry, Your Honor. So you don't think it's

relevant, but --

The Court: But if something comes up and he wants to ask a

question, then you'll approach the bench and we'll

talk about it.

motion, which was in essence a motion seeking reconsideration of the Court's previous denial, should have been filed no later than March 27, 2015. See EDCR 2.24 ("A party seeking reconsideration of a ruling of the court, other than any order which may be addressed by motion pursuant to N.R.C.P. 50(b), 52(b), 59 or 60, must file a motion for such relief within 10 days after service of written notice of the order or judgment unless the time is shortened or enlarged by order.").

Unless otherwise provided by law or by these rules, all motions must be served and filed not less than 15 days before the date set for trial. The court will only consider late motions based upon an affidavit demonstrating good cause and it may decline to consider any motion filed in violation of this rule.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> EDCR 3.20(a) provides the following:

Ms. Kollins: What would Your Honor consider opening the door

where that might be appropriate?

The Court: I don't know. That's why I say--

Ms. Kollins: Okay.

The Court: I'm not opposed to holding that off to listen to what

is being said. Because 52 counts, there's going to be

a lot of testimony.

. . .

The Court: Okay. If something should come up and you think

the door's open, do not ask the question without

coming to the Court.

Mr. Speed: We will do that, Your Honor.

The Court: But at this time, it's denied.

. . .

Mr. Speed: Just so that I'm clear, Your Honor. The motion is

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